
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 18 January 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 

 
Tuesday, 26 January 2021 at 10.30 am 

 

 Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely using Skype for Business  

 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Helen Crawford, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor 
Gloria Johnson and Councillor Linda Wootten 

 
 

 
Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the Council  
Councillor Annie Mason, the Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations  
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 

 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Environment  

Overview and  

Scrutiny Committee 



 

 

 

Environment Overview and Security Committee - 26 January 2021 

 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 
1.   Comments from Members of the public 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 

discretion. 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 

meeting. 

 

   
4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 15 December 2020 (Pages 5 - 11) 

   
5.   Updates from the previous meeting (Pages 13 - 14) 

   
6.   Performance Dashboards 

Report providing an overview of the performance dashboard development work 

undertaken to date, and the next steps to develop future performance reporting 

to the Committee 

(Pages 15 - 27) 

   
7.   Performance Indicators 

Report proposing the key performance indicators and targets for the Corporate 

Plan 2020-23 to be monitored by this committee 

(Pages 29 - 61) 

   
8.   Big Clean 

Presentation to provide an update following the return of the Big Clean scheme 

post Covid-19 restrictions 

 

   
9.   Cycling in South Kesteven with Staff Travel Survey 

To consider and make recommendations from presentation by Sustrans at 

meeting held on 15 December 2020 to improve cycling in South Kesteven and 

to receive presentation of the Staff Travel Survey 

(Pages 63 - 75) 

   
10.   Work Programme (Pages 77 - 80) 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/7Z83Y38Y
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

   
11.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 15 December 2020, 10.30 am 

 

 

 

Meeting held virtually, via Skype 
 

 
Committee Members present 
  
Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
 

Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
 

Cabinet Members 
 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
 
Officers Other Members present 
 
Gary Smith, Strategic Director, 
Commercial and Operations 
Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead 
Serena Brown, Sustainability and 
Climate Change 
Lynne Lord, Grounds Maintenance 
Coordinator 
Steve Frisby, Parks Contract Manager, 
Corporate Operations Team 
Miki Gregory, Market and Events 
Supervisor 
Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal 
Democratic Officer 
Susan Hislop, Democracy Officer 

Councillor Bob Adams 
 
External Guests 
 
Dave Clasby, Sustrans, East Midlands 
Partnership Manager 
Gwyneth McMinn, Sustrans, Head of 
Network Development 

 

 
14. Comments from Members of the public 

 
A member of the public raised a question relating to cycling, as being an 
advocate in its promotion. There was concern over the number of occasions 
he had been clipped by vehicles, whilst cycling in Grantham.  It was queried 
whether there were any plans in place to educate vehicle drivers and engage 
with bike shops, to encourage maintenance of bicycles alongside cycling 

5

Agenda Item 4



 

education. In response, the Chairman explained that though this was not 
within the remit of this committee, she hoped that these concerns would be 
covered within item 6 on the agenda. 

A second member of the public raised a question relating to the ‘purple bins’ 
being rolled out by Lincolnshire County Council, across the district. She 
queried what the current situation was and how the new bins would fit into 
encouraging waste collection and recycling. In response, the Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations explained that these additional bins were to 
enable the separation of paper and card waste to achieve improved recycling. 
He anticipated South Kesteven District Council would not be included within 
the programme until 2023 and this was subject to Member decision. 

 
15. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 

 
Following a register of attendance all Committee Members were confirmed as 
present. 
 

16. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were disclosed.   
 

17. Action Notes from the meeting held on 6 October 2020 
 
Subject to typographical amendments and suggested changes as listed 
below, the notes of the meeting held on 6 October 2020, were agreed as a 
correct record. Communal properties under item 8 to the discussion held was 
also queried.  
 

Page 5, Item 6 additional word ‘were’ to sentence 
Page 6, Item 7 penultimate sentence in final paragraph to be deleted  
Page 7, third paragraph down amendment of word to ‘disappointment’ 
Page 8, second sentence down completion of phrase to ‘task and finish 
group’ 
Page 8, last sentence in penultimate paragraph of item 8 to read 
singular Member 
Page 10, last sentence in penultimate paragraph additional word ‘of’ to 
sentence 
Page 11, item 12 addition to second sentence of the word ‘had’ 

 
18. Updates from the previous meeting 

 
The Chairman confirmed that the requested action to undertake a consultation 
to a proposed rewilding site at Jubilee Park in Deeping St James, would be 
discussed under agenda item 9. 
 

6



 

19. Increasing Cycling in the District 
 
Members received a presentation from representatives of Sustrans; Dave 
Clasby (East Midlands Partnership Manager) and Gwyneth McMinn (Head of 
Network Development). 
 
Dave Clasby explained the benefits of active travel and services Sustrans 
were able to provide. A reflection of the results received from the recent South 
Kesteven District Council employees’ travel survey. Key elements included of 
the presentation included: 
 

 Enabling people to have a choice over walking and cycling for health 
and environment benefits. 

 50% of the country’s future health budget will be spent on obesity 
related issues. 

 30,000 premature deaths as a result of poor air quality, with the poorest 
communities suffering most. 

 A massive increase in cycling and walking during the Covid-19 had 
been observed. 

 The Government’s recent publication Gear Change. 

 Creating a people friendly retail environment resulted in higher usage 
and increased retail benefits.  

 Success was reported to the creation of safe space around schools 
during the pandemic; including closure of roads for safety and to 
encourage walking. 

 
Gwyneth McMinn continued with the second presentation highlighting: 
 

 A need for improved development planning and design with delivery of 
improved transport links. 

 Working with local authorities and partners to achieve 66% higher 
standard of walkways, as well as being traffic free by 2040.  

 The existing cycle network to be increased through planning solutions 
and improved connectivity.  

 Greater investment from developers to enable additional funds 
alongside those provided by the Department of Transport, for safe 
routes and cycle networks. 

 
Members were shown examples of walkways including those within South 
Kesteven, which had been redesigned to enable safe cycle access.  
Appreciation was expressed by Sustrans for the support provided by South 
Kesteven District Council in helping to create additional cycle friendly 
walkways. 
 
Following discussion, Members raised the following points and questions: 
 

7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


 

 Sustrans were working alongside Active England to consider new 
Planning Policies, to assist planners in improving accessibility for 
communities.  

 The importance of including cycle routes and safe routes within the 
Local Plan  

 Increased influence in decision-making for cycling and infrastructure 
schemes. It was noted that air quality controls fell within District 
Council’s responsibility. 

 A Member’s suggested a cycle festival, this was welcomed by 
Sustrans. It was noted that oversight of that area would fall under with 
the Culture and Visitor Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s remit. 

 The progress of the cycle route to Belton House was attributed to the 
joint work of Sustrans, South Kesteven District Council and local 
volunteers. 

 Consideration of connecting infrastructure to new developments was 
recognised. This would include better quality routes for schools. 

 
The Chairman proposed with full agreement of Members, to include a post-
presentation item on cycling for inclusion at the next meeting of the Committee 
to be held on 26 January 2021. 
 
ACTION 1 

 To include in the work programme recommendations and conclusions 
to presentation by Sustrans, to improve cycling in South Kesteven.  

 
The representatives from Sustrans were thanked by the Chairman and the 
Committee. 
 

20. Emerging Carbon Reduction Plan 
 
A report which provided an update to the emerging Carbon Reduction Plan 
was presented to Members. Elements of the Plan had been considered at 
previous meetings, which included a presentation of a report compiled by the 
Carbon Trust.  This report had identified key areas within the Council’s 
buildings and other assets, where large emissions had been indicated. 

 
A quarterly update outlining the Council’s carbon emission progress was to be 
presented to the Committee; with the first due January 2021. It was reported 
that the street light project was expected to be completed within 12 years, with 
anticipated delivery to carbon reduction of 180 tonnes.  An application to the 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme had been made to help identify 
investment requirements to improve energy usage within Council buildings. 
Future plans included; an investigation of the current fleet of vehicles fuel 
consumption, assessment of carbon usage within leisure services, upgrade of 
homes through the Green Homes Fund and working with other authorities on 
reduction of carbon usage initiatives. 
 

8



 

The work of the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer was praised by the 
Committee, along with progress made.  
 
Members queried if consideration had been given to alternative means of 
heating.   It was noted that this had been considered by Officers, for example; 
air source heat pumps.  There was recognition of high installation costs but 
was anticipated that the reduction of energy usage would result in an overall 
reduction in cost. Members were advised that presently there approximately 
800 properties reliant on solid fuel heating, with around 120 to be upgraded.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations and the Officer 
welcomed a suggestion to request developers to provide figures as to the 
level of carbon likely to be generated by a planning application.  

 
ACTION 2 

 The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer to include properties 
within the HRA to the list of potential projects, subject to HRA 
agreement. 

 The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer to discuss with HRA 
colleagues the feasibility of alternative energy sources within the 
Council’s housing portfolio. 

 
Following unanimous agreement by Members the following was noted and 
that the Committee would continue with the third option as detailed within 
the Officer’s Report.: 
 

1. Note the work completed to date to identify opportunities to reduce 
the Council’s carbon emissions. 

2. Note the outlined approach listed in paragraph 2.1. for a carbon 
reduction plan targeting the Council’s key carbon emission 
categories. 

3. Provide feedback on any specific areas or carbon reduction initiatives 
the Committee would like to see prioritised. 

 
21. Update on Street Lighting 

 
An update was provided by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations on the £150,000 investment by the Council, to upgrade South 
Kesteven District Council owned street lighting.  
 
An investigation was undertaken into the financial commitments and benefits 
to LED lighting, as well as the addition of dimming technology which could add 
further savings in rural areas, as well as those with low pedestrian/vehicular 
usage.  It was hoped that the commencement of the project would take place 
in 2021, following pricing options considered by the Procurement Team.  
 

9



 

22. Update for Trial Rewilding Projects 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations explained to Members 
that three areas of rewilding had been completed, photographs had been 
provided at Appendix 1 to the report.  

 
Members received an update from the Parks Manager on the Blue Green 
Project. The European Regional Development Fund are the primary funder of 
a scheme to deliver 14 ecology improvement projects across both South and 
North Kesteven. Works included the creation of two wetland habitats and 
meadows at Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham. 
 
The Grounds Maintenance Co-ordinator reported to the Committee that the 
active rewilding sites had received positive feedback from ward Members, 
users and the Heights of Play Scheme (HOPS) group to the Foxglove Road 
site. Signage had been arranged for both sites. 
 
Discussion with local ward Councillors had taken place with the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations, to establish scaled down sites in 
Bourne. It was highlighted that the resident survey in the area had not 
received a positive response and the Town Council was not in support. An 
alternative site at Dyke had been requested for consideration. The Grounds 
Maintenance Co-ordinator was praised for her excellent work. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations confirmed that the 
consultation, regarding Jubilee Park, was programmed for December 2020. 
 

23. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
The Chairman requested that the Work Programme be considered by 
Members, which had previously been circulated. It was agreed to include the 
following items for consideration: 
 
26 January 2021 

1. Promotion of Cycling in South Kesteven  
Members to discuss presentation by Sustrans received at this meeting. 

2. Update to Staff Survey 
3. Big Clean Update 

To receive an update following return of the Big Clean scheme post 
Covid-19 restrictions. 

4. Performance Indicators against agreed indicators 
5. Tree Protection Orders (TPO), Tree Replacement and Hedge Planting 

To receive a presentation by the Woodland Trust to consider new 
initiatives and recommendations for the protection of trees, hedges and 
woodland. 

 

10



 

Members were invited to contact the Chairman with further suggestions for 
the Committee meeting to be held on 20 April 2021. 
 
Close of meeting 
 
The meeting was closed at 12:58.   

 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
2020/2021 

Actions meeting 8 December 2020 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

19 19. Increasing Cycling in the District 
To include in the work 
programme 
recommendations and 
conclusions to presentation 
by Sustrans, to improve 
cycling in South Kesteven.  

Democratic 
Services 

11 January 
2021 

Susan 
Hislop 

Complete. Included on agenda for meeting on 24 January 
2021 

20 Emerging Carbon Reduction Plan 

1. The Sustainability and 
Climate Change Officer to 
include properties within 
the HRA to the list of 
potential projects, subject 
to HRA agreement. 

Sustainability 
and Climate 

Change 
Officer 

16 January 
2021 

Susan 
Hislop 

Response received 15 January 2021 – 
 
Projects that target the energy efficiency of HRA 
properties will be considered within the scope of the 
carbon reduction plan. A project to upgrade heating 
systems at Manor Court, Bourne, is ongoing and expected 
to complete within this financial year. It is expected for this 
upgrade to see an appreciable decrease in gas used for 
the site, which will contribute to a reduction for SKDC’s 
carbon footprint. Post-project monitoring will take place to 
understand energy and carbon savings made. 

2. The Sustainability and 
Climate Change Officer to 
discuss with HRA 
colleagues the feasibility of 
alternative energy sources 

Sustainability 
and Climate 

Change 
Officer 

16 January 
2021 

Susan 
Hislop 

Response received 15 January 2021 – 
 
Regarding the planned upgrade of HRA properties off the 

gas grid, the ongoing use of solid fuel was discussed with 

colleagues. The decision replace solid fuel heating within 

13

A
genda Item

 5



 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

within the Council’s 
housing portfolio. 

these properties was based on concerns around 

affordability of fuel and fuel poverty, particularly for more 

vulnerable residents, and for local air quality where wood 

fired systems are known to contribute particulates to the 

atmosphere which are detrimental to health. These 

systems can be low carbon, however this is contingent on 

specific fuels being used. Whilst a small number of 

properties may be eligible to receive the Renewable Heat 

Incentive grant (dependent on the specification of the 

system installed), the documentation required for domestic 

systems is quite prescriptive, with a tenant being required 

to keep a record of fuel type purchased for the last seven 

years amongst other criteria.  

It was noted that the government grant discussed, the 
Green Homes Grant, does not as a rule provide funding 
for solid fuel systems. The application included upgrades 
to electrically powered air source heat pumps, which are 
eligible for this funding.  
Additionally, the installation of solar panels with battery 
storage continues for properties which have the 
appropriate roof space needed. 

     

 

14



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

26 January 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Performance Dashboards 

This report provides an overview of the performance dashboard development work undertaken to 
date, and the next steps to develop future performance reporting to the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  

 

 

Report Author 

Ben Russell, Performance Lead 

Tel:  01476 406394 

Email:  Ben.Russell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Sam Fitt, Project Lead 30 December 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 

Operations 
7 January 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

15 January 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Approves the revised dashboards and continues to support the ongoing 
transformation of performance reporting. 

 

15

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 On the 21 July 2020 the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee requested 

7 performance measures across waste, carbon emissions and enforcement. This has 

informed and been incorporated into the ongoing work to transform the Council’s 

performance reporting. 

1.2 This initial set of proposals was developed further at a workshop held on 15 September 

2020 and the development of dashboards agreed by Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Members on 06 October 2020. 

1.3 Additionally, to these agreed indicators, The South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020-23 was 

adopted at Council on 1 October 2020. This includes a number of actions, key 

performance indicators and targets for which the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will have oversight. Overlap between the new dashboards and the Corporate 

Plan measures are outlined in Section 3 of this report. 

2 Dashboard Revisions 

2.1 The revised dashboards for waste (Appendix 1) and carbon emissions (Appendix 2) are 

presented alongside this report.  

2.2 Members requested the following changes which have been included in the new version of 

the waste performance report; 

(a) Two previous years data (from April 2018 onwards). This is now included within 

the data set. However due to space limitations on the printed version of the 

dashboards, it is not possible to see all the data at once. 

(b) Non-target recyclables collected trend data for all benchmarking partners.  

(c) A separate display of food waste tonnage.  

(d) Inclusion of an error margin indicator for non-recyclable waste collection – this is 

included but separate to the visual. Instead an upper and lower margin is 

detailed. 

(e) Number of Fly Tipping Incidents. 

(f) Waste Collection (missed bins). This includes the number and if the bin was 

missed or refused due to contamination. Further information is not available 

currently because of the way the system collects and stores the data. 

2.3 Lincolnshire County Council controls the data used for waste benchmarking. This 

previously was broken down by Local Authority area. Unfortunately, a change in how the 

data is supplied means it is no longer possible to benchmark against specific partners. 

Instead a benchmark is provided using the combined data for Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership members (excluding South Kesteven District Council). 

2.4 The immediate focus for carbon emissions reporting has been to ensure that the Council’s 

2019/20 emissions were accurately benchmarked against the 2018/19 baseline. The 

dashboard has been updated to reflect that data, and the additional data and design 

requests made by Members. Improving the quarterly reporting is the next step in the 

dashboarding process and the Performance Lead is working closely with the Sustainability 

and Climate Change Officer to ensure this is available as soon as possible.  

16



 

 
 

2.5 The changes from October’s carbon emissions dashboard are: 

(a) Improved visual layout for readability as previously requested by Members.  

(b) Added district level reference data. The 2017 South Kesteven overview has been 

included. This is the most recent data provided by SCATTER 

(https://scattercities.com/). 

(c) Inclusion of a data quality index within the report to ensure Members are kept 

aware of strengths and limitations of the relevant data sources. 

2.6 It is intended that future versions will also include a Carbon Reduction Priority/Project 

Tracker and a further breakdown of some of the more significant energy usage and costs 

data. 

3 Corporate Plan Performance Indicators 

3.1 In addition to the work undertaken so far, Members will be asked to endorse performance 

measures linked to the Corporate Plan. The table below is included to highlight where 

existing dashboards cover or include relevant data. 

Corporate Plan Performance Indicator Available in current 
dashboards (Yes/No) 

SKDC carbon emissions Yes 

Percentage of streets that meet higher street standard No 

Number of garden waste bins No 

Commercial waste income No 

Public satisfaction from visitors (Wyndham Park and 
Queen Elizabeth Park only at the moment) 

No 

Green Flag status No 

Environment SK Compliments and Complaints No 

Residual waste tonnes per 1000 households No – Though data is 
available to provide this 
specific measure 

Contribution to increasing the proportion of recycling, as 
set out in the LWP strategy 

Yes 

Reduced non-target recyclable materials in the recycling 
stream 

Yes 

Number of EVCPs in South Kesteven No 

Food waste tonnes collected Yes 

3.2 Where a Performance Indicator is not currently included in the available dashboards, this 

will be prioritised for development alongside Fixed Penalty Notices data. 

4 Financial Implications  

4.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

17

https://scattercities.com/


 

 
 

5 Legal and Governance Implications  

5.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are updated on the ongoing 

performance management of environmental measures. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

6.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

7 Risk and Mitigation 

7.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

8 Community Safety Implications  

8.1 No significant implications have been identified. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

9.1 This report outlines steps taken to improve carbon emission monitoring. This oversight is 

fundamental in understanding the Council’s progress towards the target of at least 30% 

reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 and to endeavour to become net-zero carbon as 

soon as viable before 2050. The monitoring tool will also enable officers and Members to 

identify any risks and impediments to achieving that target. 

10 Other Implications (where significant)  

10.1 No other significant implications have been identified. 

11 Background Papers 

11.1 Agenda and Minutes from the Council meeting held 01 October 2020 (Item 27 – South 

Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan) 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4037&Ver=

4  

11.2 Agenda and action notes from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

meeting held on 06 October 2020 (Item 10 - Environmental Performance indicators) 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=

4  

12 Appendices 

12.1 Appendix 1 – Waste dashboard Q2 2020/21 

12.2 Appendix 2 – South Kesteven District Council carbon emissions tracker 2019/20 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6 October 2020 

Final Decision date   N/A 

 

18

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4037&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4037&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=4


/

19

A
ppendix 1



/

Waste Collection Composition (Tonnes) by Month

0K

2K

4K

6K

February 2
019

March
 2019

April 2
019

May 2
019

June 2019

July 2
019

August 2
019

September 2019

Octo
ber 2019

November 2019

December 2019

January 2
020

February 2
020

March
 2020

April 2
020

May 2
020

June 2020

July 2
020

August 2
020

September 2020

Domestic Residual Waste (Tonnes) - EfW Domestic Recyclable Waste (Tonnes) Garden Waste (Tonnes) - Composted

41.58%
Recycling Re-use & Composting Rate

31.14%
Total Non-Target Recyclable Materials in Recycling Waste (Based on Samples)

Report Period

Multiple selecti…





Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable
Materials (Based on Samples) - used for Refuse Derived Fuel - in Relation to

other Local Authorities in the Region

25%

30%

Other Lincolnshire LA's SKDC

31
.3

4%

31
.1

4%

Waste Performance Reporting Period: Jul 2020 to Sep 2020

Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable Materials (Based on Samples) - used for Refuse Derived
Fuel

27%

28%

29%

30%

31%

32%

Novem…
2019

Decem…
2019

January
2020

February
2020

March
2020

April
2020

May
2020

June
2020

July 2020 August
2020

Septem…
2020

31.94%
31.16%

27.81%

31.81%

30.73%

29.94%

30.98%
30.66%

29.82%

30.68%
30.50%

30.30%
30.13%

31.85%

28.72%

31.43%

30.39%30.50%

30.15%

30.90%

31.45%

29.39%

District Other Lincolnshire LA's SKDC

30.86%
Lower Margin

31.42%
Higher Margin

2,496.54
Total Domestic Recyclable 
Waste (Tonnes) in Period

8,859.46
Total Domestic Residual Waste 

(Tonnes) in Period - EfW

3,808.83
Total Garden Waste (Tonnes)

 in Period- Composted

Error Margin/Statistical 

Confidence 

20



/

Commentary/Implications

Over the months July to September 2020 the amount of general waste that has been 
collected has increased by 1013 tonnes compared to the same period in 2019. The recycling 
tonnage has reduced by 379.95 over the same period. This is concerning and is likely to be 
due to the coronavirus restrictions where people’s priorities may have changed and they 
are now less focused on recycling. The figures indicate that the total waste collected has 
increased by 633.93 tonnes overall. Again, this is likely to be due to people staying home 
both for work and not going or eating out. The resultant waste, that would have 
traditionally gone into commercial waste from work places, is now going into domestic bins. 
Green waste collected continues to be higher than 2019 overall despite a drop during July 
and August. Tonnage in September was 421 tonnes higher than September 2019. The reuse, 
recycling and composting rate is therefore at 45.04% for the first half of 2020/21.

A significant impact of the covid 19 pandemic on the service is the increase in fly tipping 
incidents in the district. These have increased from 262 in Q2 2019 to 481 in 2020. An 
expected contributor to this trend is the change in service at the HWRCs where customers 
now need to make an appointment and can only take certain waste types on certain days.  
LCC have indicated that they don’t intend to change back to the old system in the 
foreseeable future so we can expect this level of fly tipping may continue.

Household waste collected in the black bins or pink bags is sent to the Energy from Waste 
(EfW) plant at North Hykeham where it is used as a fuel to produce electricity. The 
contamination in the silver bins or clear bags is used as Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) where it 
is used directly as fuel, usually at a cement works. None of our waste is sent to landfill 
(except in exceptional circumstances where the EfW plant is non-operational).

Food Waste Tonneage by Reporting Period

0

20

40

February 2
019

March
 2019

April 2
019

May 2
019

June 2019

July 2
019

August 2
019

September 2019

Octo
ber 2019

November 2019

December 2019

January 2
020

February 2
020

March
 2020

April 2
020

May 2
020

June 2020

July 2
020

August 2
020

September 2020

24 25

31 26 25 28 26 25 29 26 27

37

22 25 26 26 25 26 28 26

Number of Fly Tipping Incidents by Reporting Period

0

100

200

March
 2019

April 2
019

May 2
019

June 2019

July 2
019

August 2
019

September 2019

Octo
ber 2019

November 2019

January 2
020

February 2
020

March
 2020

April 2
020

May 2
020

June 2020

July 2
020

August 2
020

September 2020

Octo
ber 2020

November 2020

11
3

10
3

60 67 80 10
3

79 78 63

11
7

11
1

94 88

12
8 15

6

15
4

15
7

17
0

13
5 17

2

Bins Not Collected by Reporting Period

0K

1K

January
2020

February
2020

March
2020

April
2020

May
2020

June
2020

July 2020 August
2020

Septem…
2020

October
2020

Novem…
2020

12
79

12
02

13
23 16

01

14
67

15
64

14
45

15
31

16
05

13
35

11
33

86 61 63 11
1

90 15
4

96 93 11
6

15
4

8812
8

79 12
4 24

1

21
6 33

3

22
4

19
5

14
1

14
5

93

Reason Contamination Missed Black Missed Silver and Green

Reporting Period: Jul 2020 to Sep 2020

21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



/

23

A
ppendix 2



/

Source
 

Frequency Confidence

Electric
Environment SK
Fleet
Gas
Invest SK Travel
Leisure Centres
Member Travel
Refrigerants
Solar
Staff Travel
Waste
Water

Quarterly
Annual
Monthly
Quarterly
Annual
Variable
Monthly
Annual
Annual
Quarterly
Quarterly
Annual

Green
Green
Green
Green
Red
DarkOrange
Green
Green
DarkOrange
Green
DarkOrange
Red

Confidence
 

Description

Green
Amber

Red

High level of confidence in the data supplied.
Moderate Level of confidence in the data supplied. May
include estimated or proxy data.
Low level of confidence in the data supplied. Data may be
incomplete or has not been effectively validated.

Commentary :

This tool analyses sources of carbon emissions across the operations of South 
Kesteven District Council, including the contribution of gas and electricity, 
emissions of the vehicle fleet and operation of the four leisure centres. Greater 
understanding of carbon emissions changes is essential to track progress towards 
the Council's carbon reduction target of at least 30% by 2030 and to net-zero 
carbon as soon as viable before 2050.
 
The 2019/20 financial year saw an approximate decrease of 6% in South 
Kesteven District Council's overall carbon emissions compared to the baseline 
year of 2018/19. The largest decreases were seen in leased assets of 
approximately 15% (principally the contribution of the Leisure Centres), where a 
reduction in gas used led to a reduction in carbon emissions. A significant 
reduction in carbon emissions from electricity used of around 9% was seen (which 
includes Council operated streetlights, buildings, and other assets). This results 
from the carbon intensity of electricity generation nationally decreasing, despite 
slightly more units of electricity being used overall compared to the baseline year. 
Both gas used in Council buildings and the operation of the vehicle fleet saw 
smaller increases in carbon emissions of around 3% and 6% respectively.
 
For context, this tool includes information on the carbon emissions arising from the 
entire district of South Kesteven. These are derived from the SCATTER tool, 
where emissions of every local authority area in the UK are available.

South Kesteven District 
Council Carbon Emissions 

Tracker
Data Quality Index :

24



/

41.54%
2018/19 Baseline Leased Buildings CO2e Tonnes %

3157
2018/19 Baseline Leased Buildings CO2e Tonnes

South Kesteven District Council Baseline Emissions 
2018/19

1344
2018/19 Baseline Gas CO2e Tonnes

17.68%
2018/19 Baseline Gas CO2e Tonnes %

1918
2018/19 Baseline Fleet CO2e Tonnes

25.24%
2018/19 Baseline Fleet CO2e Tonnes %

1072
2018/19 Baseline Electric CO2e Tonnes

14.11%
2018/19 Baseline Electric CO2e Tonnes %

99
2018/19 Baseline Travel CO2e Tonnes

1.30%
2018/19 Baseline Travel CO2e Tonnes %

5
2018/19 Baseline Water CO2e Tonnes

0.07%
2018/19 Baseline Water CO2e Tonnes %

0.04%
2018/19 Baseline Waste CO2e Tonnes %

0.03%
2018/19 Baseline Refrigerants CO2e Tonnes %

3
2018/19 Baseline Waste CO2e Tonnes

2
2018/19 Baseline Refrigerants CO2e Tonnes

7,600
Baseline CO2e Tonnes

5320
2030 Reduction Target CO2e Tonnes

25



/

-15.73%
Leased Asset change from 2018/19 Baseline

2660
Leased Asset Co2e

1382
Gas CO2e

2033
Fleet CO2e

975.43
Electric CO2e

84.14
Business Travel CO2e

5.52
Water CO2e

2.45
Waste CO2e

0.00
Refrigerants CO2e

7412
Target Emissions

South Kesteven District Council Emissions 2019/2020

6.02%
Fleet change from 2018/19 Baseline

2.82%
Gas change from 2018/19 Baseline

-9.01%
Electric change from 2018/19 Baseline

-15.01%
Business Travel change from 2018/19 Baseline

10.31%
Water change from 2018/19 Baseline

-18.26%
Waste change from 2018/19 Baseline

-100.00%
Refrigerants change from 2018/19 Baseline

7,143.20
Total CO2e Tonnes

-6.01%
Difference From Baseline (%)

-456.80
Difference From Baseline (Tonnes)

Ahead of Target

26



/

Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven by Scope

721.85K (64.24%)

228.53K (20.34%)

173.34K (15.43%)

Scope
SCOPE1 - DIRECT

SCOPE2 - INDIRECT

SCOPE3 - OTHER

CO2e Emissions by Sector
Sector Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven %GT Value

Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use
Generation of grid-supplied energy
Industrial Process and Product Use
Stationary energy
Transportation
Waste

24,533.79
342.74

60,687.64
668,689.97
358,588.03
10,877.65

2.18%
0.03%
5.40%

59.51%
31.91%
0.97%

Total 1,123,719.82 100.00%

Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land
Use

-20K

0K

20K

40K

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
F…

Livestock Land use

32.7K

-8.17K

Generation of grid-supplied energy

0

200

400

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
n…

Local
renewabl…

0.34K

Industrial Process and Product Use

0K

50K

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
n…

Industrial
process

Industrial
product u…

60.69K

0K

Stationary energy

0.0M

0.2M

Sub-sector

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

…

Residential
buildings

Institutional
buildings & fac…

Industrial
buildings & fac…

Commercial
buildings & fac…

Agriculture

279.59K 177.41K
141.3K

56.54K
13.86K

Transportation

0.0M

0.2M

Sub-sector

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

…

On-road Aviation Rail Off-road Waterborne
navigation

269.71K

75.05K
10.63K 2.7K 0.5K

Waste

0K

5K

10K

Sub-sector

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

…

Wastewater Solid waste
disposal

8.85K

2.02K

South Kesteven District-wide Emissions 
2017 (Latest available data).

1.12M
Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven

27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
26th January 2021 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Corporate Plan 2020-23 – Key Performance Indicators 
and Targets 

The report proposes the key performance indicators and targets for the Corporate Plan 2020-23 to 
be monitored by this committee. 

 

 

Report Author 

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive  

Tel:  01476 40 60 80 

Email:  Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director for Commercial and 
Operations 

12 January 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  15 January 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 15 January 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

i.  Recommend to Cabinet the proposed key performance indicators and targets 
associated with the actions in the South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan 
2020-23. 

ii. Note that key performance indicators and success criteria for each action will be 
reviewed and if necessary revised as part of the annual review process. 

29

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background  

1.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the strategic vision and key priorities of the Council.  The 

Corporate Plan underpins the Council’s strategic activity and provides the performance 

framework for managing the delivery of the actions and priorities in the Plan.  It is good 

practice for a public sector organisation seeking to deliver a wide set of aims and 

objectives to set out a Corporate Plan and regularly review the activity and achievements 

against it. 

1.2 The South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan 2020-23 was adopted at Council on 

1 October 2020 (see Appendix A) and is the delivery plan for the Corporate Strategy which 

was adopted in 2018. It was agreed by Council that actions, key performance indicators 

(KPIs) and targets would be developed by the relevant overview and scrutiny committee, 

which would retain oversight of the performance management arrangements at a strategic 

level. Cabinet will receive performance reports on a quarterly basis. Overview and scrutiny 

committees will also be able to take a deeper dive into any areas of concern. 

1.3 The Corporate Plan 2020-23 sets out a clear vision for South Kesteven to “Be the best 

district in which to live, work and visit”. The Plan has five priority areas: 

1. Growth and our Economy 

2. Housing that meets the needs of All Residents 

3. Health and Strong Communities 

4. A Clean and Sustainable Environment 

5. A High Performing Council 

The delivery of each priority is supported by a number of actions. 

1.4 This report proposes KPIs and targets for the 8 actions that fall within the scope of the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Accountability for delivery of these 

actions fall within the remit of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations. A table 

of proposed KPIs and annual targets for the 8 actions is attached in Appendix B. 

Approach – Setting the Priorities and Actions 

1.5 An evidence-based approach has been undertaken to developing the priorities and actions 

within the Corporate Plan.  A range of data sources were utilised to undertake an 

assessment of performance and benchmarking to form an analysis of strengths, 

weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT) for the District. The SWOT also 

incorporated the likely impact on the District of Covid-19. 

1.6 The SWOT was then analysed and used to inform three key areas of the Corporate Plan: 

• Vision – an encompassing statement setting out succinctly the high-level aim for the 
District 

• Priorities – specific key areas of focus for the Council 

• Actions – the things that will, in combination seek to achieve the targets of the Council 
(primarily to address things found in the SWOT) 

 

 

 

 

30



 

 
 

 

Performance Management and Annual Review 

1.7 Once finalised it is the intention that the performance against the Corporate Plan targets 

will form a regular part of the agenda of overview and scrutiny committees. A performance 

report will also be provided on a quarterly basis to Cabinet outlining the progress against 

the delivery of Corporate Plan targets.  

1.8 An annual performance report that considers all aspects of the Corporate Plan 2020-23 

will be presented to Cabinet in or soon after quarter 1 of each year. This report will be 

discussed at the relevant overview and scrutiny committee, to consider any changes 

required to the KPIs and targets in the Corporate Plan (noting that changes to the external 

environment or policy context may require changes to priorities and actions). 

1.9 A ‘golden thread’ approach to the management of performance of the Corporate Plan is 

being embedded across the organisation – developing a clear link between activity at all 

levels and the Corporate Plan.  To support this the following are being developed: 

• Service Plans – setting out how each service will contribute to the delivery of 
SKDC’s vision and priorities. These will also include KPIs and success criteria and 
be monitored by Senior Officers and Cabinet Members. 

• Individual Performance Appraisals – setting out how each individual contributes to 
the achievement of SKDC’s vision and priorities.  These will be monitored by Heads 
of Service and line managers. 

 

1.10 It should be noted that the Corporate Plan KPIs work alongside, and not replace, other 

performance information received by the committee, such as the Environmental 

Performance Indicators. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received 

2.1 The draft KPIs and targets set out in Appendix B have been developed by senior officers 

in consultation with Cabinet Members and relevant officers. The attached report provides 

overview and scrutiny committee members with the opportunity to input on the 

development (and ongoing management) of relevant KPIs and targets. 

2.2 Overview and scrutiny committees will also be consulted as part of the annual review 

process and asked to consider the appropriateness of any changes proposed to KPIs and 

targets. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 As Council has agreed that OSCs will lead on this invaluable work of finalising targets and 

KPIs, there are no viable alternatives to doing so. An absence of success criteria would 

mean a Plan that was not measured, and its effectiveness could not be assessed in a 

transparent way.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is for the Committee to consider the proposed KPIs and targets as 

set out in Appendix B (subject to any changes agreed at the meeting), noting that the 

annual review process will provide an opportunity to refresh targets and indicators at the 

beginning of each financial year.  

31



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation(s) 

5.1 The adoption of the KPIs and targets set out in the report (and encompassing any 

changes agreed by the overview and scrutiny committee) will provide a basis for effective 

performance management of the Corporate Plan 2020-23 and enables the overview and 

scrutiny committee to input on the development of the targets.   

5.2 The annual review process will ensure that Cabinet is provided with a clear overview of 

progress against targets for the previous financial year, while also providing the 

opportunity to ensure that the Councils activity is focussed on the highest priority areas 

(i.e. a refocussing based upon any changes to the external environment or policy context). 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If approved by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee the agreed KPIs and 

annual targets will form the basis of a quarterly performance report of the progress of 

these to Cabinet. The actions, KPIs and targets will also form the baseline for the annual 

review to be undertaken in quarter one of each financial year. 

6.2 Once KPIs and targets have been approved they will also be embedded in service plans 

and performance appraisals to enable the development of the ‘golden thread’ approach to 

Performance Management at SKDC. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  There will be financial 

implications for the delivery of some of the specific actions that are set out in the 

Corporate Plan, but the necessary resourcing will be considered as part of the annual 

budget setting cycle of the Council. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications 

8.1 A clear set of KPIs and targets is important to good governance. The KPIs and targets 

should follow SMART principles where possible: specific, measurable, achievable, realistic 

and timebound. Members should consider both quantitative and qualitative targets.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, director of Law and Governance  

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An equality assessment has been carried out and is presented in Appendix C.  The 

equality assessment indicates a potentially positive impact across all equality groups.  It 

also notes that as this report seeks to provide a framework for delivery, individual projects 

or actions will require their own equality assessments. 

Equality and Safeguarding Implications reviewed by:  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

Due to the strategic nature of the Corporate Plan, the core risks should align with the 

Corporate Risk Register.  The periodic review of these documents should ensure that they 

remain aligned. 

32



 

 
 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Within the actions outlined in this report there is a focus on delivering clean streets and 

well maintained, high quality public open spaces.  These will play a key role in delivering a 

clean, safe environment, which in turn impact positively on community safety. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

The actions and key performance indicators outlined within this report are focussed 

around supporting South Kesteven in its response to the climate emergency and achieving 

the commitment to reduce the Council’s own carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030 and 

to be carbon neutral as soon as viable before 2050.  The report also outlines initiatives 

within the district which focus on environmentally friendly modes of transport, increased 

recycling and reduction in the production of residual waste, all of which will support the 

Council in tackling climate change. 

Carbon implications reviewed by: Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change 

Officer 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 All significant implications are highlighted above. 

14 Appendices 

Appendix A – Adopted Corporate Plan 

Appendix B – Draft Key Performance Indicators and Targets for Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note this is an interactive document.
Please use the arrow buttons the click backwards 
and forwards through the pages. Hover and click 
over the bar of graphics at the top of the pages to 
navigate through the corporate priorities.

Be the best District to live, work and visit

Corporate Plan 
2020-2023

Be the best district in which to  
live, work and visit

Easton Walled Gardens
35

Appendix A



Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

2

Contents

Our vision for South Kesteven 3

About our district 4

Finance 5

Growth and our Economy 6-7

Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents 8-9

Healthy and Strong Communities 10-11

Clean and Sustainable Environment 12-13

High Performing Council 14-15

Managing performance  16

Covid-19 response 17

Equalities 18

Core values at heart of SKDC 19

Links to key documents 19

Contact details 20

36



3

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Our vision for South Kesteven
The events of the past few months have turned our
world upside down and left us with a legacy we could
not have predicted. But South Kesteven is a district
full of promise and potential. It is home to innovative
entrepreneurs and savvy start-ups; a base for global
enterprise; and an inviting landscape perfectly situated
in the heart of England. We have much to be proud of,
and much to offer.

Our Corporate Plan clearly sets out how South
Kesteven District Council intends to meet that
promise and potential. Our vision is to “be the best
district in which to live, work, and visit.”

We will continue to support  businesses and work with
partners in all sectors to create the right conditions
for sustainable and dynamic growth so that our local
economy not only recovers from the Coronavirus
pandemic, but recovers stronger than ever.

We will continue to develop a clean and green future, 
working with others to ensure that how we live and 
how we work respects and protects our environment 
and reduces our carbon footprint.

We will develop the immense goodwill and community
spirit that already exists so that our communities 
thrive, are strong and healthy, and we commit to 
building and maintaining housing that meets the 
needs of all residents.

Underpinning all of this is how we work as a council.
Our Corporate Plan is our promise to you, the
residents and businesses of South Kesteven, but
it is also our blueprint for ensuring we are the high 
performing council you deserve; one that attracts and
retains the best staff to deliver high-quality services.

Our values and our commitment to diversity and 
inclusion will help shape how we deliver our services 
and how we meet our priorities. Within our council and 
our communities we want everyone to feel welcome 
and valued. 

As a district council, we work hand-in-hand with other 
public sector partners across Lincolnshire and the 
wider region so that individually and collectively we 
deliver for our residents and businesses. 

Working in partnership with others is a journey we are 
on, and it is a road we continue to follow to realise our 
ambition for South Kesteven.

So as we deliver our priorities over the next three 
years, you should expect to see continued growth that
respects our countryside and our heritage; a reduction
in our carbon footprint to protect our environment for
present and future generations; a focus on harnessing
the community spirit so prevalent in recent months;
housing to meet all needs; and an efficient, high 
performing council that puts local residents and local
businesses first, always.

Cllr Kelham Cooke
Leader of the Council  
South Kesteven District Council

Karen Bradford 
Chief Executive 
South Kesteven District Council

 @southkesteven
  @southkdc
  linkedin.com/company/south-kesteven-council

37



4

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Snapshot
Of South Kesteven

LONDON
1hr

LEEDS 
1hr 10min

East 
Midlands Airport

Robin 
Hood/

Doncaster 
Airport Humberside 

Airport
Manchester

Airport

Birmingham 
International Airport

Stansted 
AirportHeathrow

Airport

Lincolnshire

GRANTHAM

1,400

5,935

Just over

In 2019, there were

households (1,422)  
were on the council’s  

housing register in 2019

businesses in South 
Kesteven, of which the vast 
majority (89.9%) were micro 

businesses – employing 
between one and ten 

people.

143,347
Population figures 2020

Forecast to grow by around 
4.5% over the next ten years, 

and by 7.7% between now 
and 2040

23.6%
Proportion of those aged

65 or over in South Kesteven is

in 2020

STAMFORD

BOURNE

South Lincolnshire

MARKET DEEPI

365sq 
miles

GRANTHAM

Luton 
Airport

38



5

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Finance
As an organisation, South Kesteven District Council 
continues to work hard to generate new income 
channels and deliver savings and efficiencies. There 
is a clear focus on becoming financially self-sufficient 
by 2025 by being more efficient in how services are 
delivered and identifying new income streams by using 
assets and reserves with a commercial focus. This 
approach has already delivered savings of over £1.1 
million in the last two years. This change in approach 
has been vital given the reduction in funding from 
central Government. 

However, this is not the time to be complacent. The 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic – the costs of which 
are estimated to be just over £4 million for the council 
– combined with a reduction in government grant of 
£1.8 million over the next three years and net operating 
costs for the General Fund of around £19 million a year, 
means that there is still much to be achieved.
 
The latest estimates forecast that SKDC needs to save 
£2.3 million over the next three years, to be in a position 
where we will still have a balanced budget. The council 
is fully committed to achieving this target and is leaving 
no stone unturned in its approach to ensure this goal 
is reached. Measures adopted include streamlining 
the organisation so that it is ready for the challenges 
ahead, modernising processes and procedures, making 
the most of commercial opportunities and rationalising 
assets and operating costs where possible. 

The delivery of the council’s priorities set out in the 
Corporate Plan remains its key focus. Underpinning 
this is a pledge to provide quality services, a strong 
commitment to investing in sustainable growth, 
improving leisure facilities and delivery of an ambitious 
housing programme that meets the needs of the social 
housing sector.

Financed from a combination of reserves and grants, 
the council has committed over £52 million to fund the 
delivery of new build social and affordable housing 
and stock acquisition programmes over the next three 
years. Over the same time period it will also continue 
to maintain its existing housing stock, by investing over 
£17 million in a range of programmes including re-
roofing, external wall insultation and the replacement of 
kitchens and bathrooms.

The environment in which the council set out its 
medium term financial plan remains challenging and 
uncertain given the financial impact of the ongoing 
Covid-19 pandemic and the wider funding review 
of local government. However, the council remains 
committed to providing quality services to its residents 
and delivering the actions set out in the Corporate Plan.  

Annual net operating costs 
General Fund

£19 million

£52 million
to fund new build 

social and affordable 
housing

Investing

£2.3 million 
needed over the next 
three years to have a 

balanced budget

£4.2 million
Estimated negative impact 
of the Covid-19 pandemic

Investing over 

to maintain existing  
council homes 

£17 million

39



6

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Delivering growth of the economy is fundamental to the success of the district, 
its businesses and residents. We are, therefore, prioritising:

� Protecting and creating jobs within the district.
� Developing the centres and high streets of our four towns.
� Securing investment for infrastructure to support ongoing and  

sustainable growth.

� Growth and our Economy

Market Deeping town centre

Stamford Georgian Costume Ball Grantham Southern Relief Road

40



7

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Delivery of the St Martin’s Park development 
scheme in Stamford.

� Regeneration of Grantham town centre, 
supported by the Future High Streets bid 
and delivery of the Heritage Action Zone 
programme.

� Identify funding and other opportunities to 
support development of the town centres of 
Bourne, Market Deeping and Stamford, and 
apply lessons learned from the Future High 
Streets Fund and other initiatives.

� Develop a package of measures to support 
recovery of the local economy and safeguard 
local jobs wherever possible.

� Review the scope and focus of InvestSK to 
maximise the support to local businesses and 
attract inward investment.

� Continue to attract investment, encourage 
diverse businesses to the district and ensure 
appropriate land and property is available.

� Work with education providers to increase 
opportunities for local learning and 
apprenticeships in the district.

� In partnership with LCC bring forward housing 
and employment opportunities linked to the 
delivery of the Grantham Southern Relief Road.

� Work with partners and attractions to promote 
visitor economy and increase visitor spend in 
the district, including the adoption of a Tourism 
Strategic Framework.

� Support the roll-out of improved broadband 
and other key infrastructure to support local 
businesses and rural areas.

� Work closely with markets across South 
Kesteven and seek to maintain their viability.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Securing £900k of Heritage Action Zone funding to restore the culture heritage of  

buildings in Grantham town centre.
�  Securing Single Local Growth funding to support the partnership with Lincolnshire  

County Council to deliver the Grantham Southern Relief Road.
�  Gravity Fields and Stamford Georgian festivals provide more than £700,000 in economic 

benefit to the district each year.

✓
✓
✓

Grantham town centre French Market, Grantham

41



8

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

High quality housing is essential for all and the council is committed to  
working with partners to provide this by:

� Offering the new homes that people need, at a price they can afford.
� Ensuring new developments are in keeping with the character of South 

Kesteven and benefit the people who already live here.
� Providing high quality homes and services to those who rent property from 

the council.

� Housing that Meets the
 Needs of all Residents

Modular homes

Council house repairs Trent Road, Grantham

42



9

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Work in partnership with the housing market to 
stimulate housing growth.

� Work to reduce and prevent homelessness in 
our district.

� Increase the supply of high quality, sustainable 
council housing.

� Undertake a planning review to improve 
performance and support local sustainable, 
high quality growth.

� Undertake a housing review to provide the 
highest quality service possible to our tenants.

� Work with housing associations and developers 
to ensure quality affordable housing is 
delivered.

� Ensure the ambitions of the adopted Local Plan 
are met and a review framework is developed 
to deliver sustainable growth in the district.

� Work with Homes England, the Ministry of 
Defence and other partners to develop holistic 
masterplans for the delivery of Grantham’s 
Southern Urban Extension.

� Ensure that major developments in South 
Kesteven are high quality, with sustainable, 
good design.

� Bring private sector empty properties back  
in to use.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Adoption of the South Kesteven Local Plan to enable delivery of sustainable housing and 

business growth in the district.
�  Beginning our programme of building high quality new homes of different tenures, including
 the completion of Wherry’s Lane Phase 2 and modular housing in Grantham.
�  Developing a leading approach, with Government, to improve the repairs process for 

rented properties (private and council housing).

✓

✓
✓

Bathroom fitting Wherry’s Lane, Bourne

43



10

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Supporting communities to be healthy is particularly important, especially  
in light of the Covid-19 crisis, which is why SKDC is:

� Investing in the health of our district by improving leisure provision.
� Working effectively with partners in the voluntary, private and public  

sectors for the benefit of communities.
� Building on, and celebrating, the rich heritage and culture of the district.

� Healthy and Strong  
 Communities

LotterySK supports  
Three Counties Dog Rescue

Grimsthorpe CastleTackling health issues

44



11

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Invest in sustainable, high quality leisure 
facilities across the district.

� Embed the work of the SK Community Hub 
to support volunteering and the voluntary and 
community sectors.

� Work with partners from all sectors to tackle 
health, unemployment and other inequalities in 
areas of highest need.

� Continue to work in partnership with the 
police and the community in tackling crime by 
investing in the CCTV service.

� Celebrate and enhance the rich history of  
the district.

� Adopt a new cultural strategy covering the local 
arts, events and festivals programme.

� Develop and adopt a sport and physical activity 
strategy. 

� Embrace the national mental health challenge, 
ensuring the council places mental wellbeing at 
the heart of decision-making.

� Make best use of different funding sources to 
support the voluntary and cultural sector within 
the district.

� Protect our most vulnerable residents with 
robust safeguarding processes.

� Improve and invest in local arts and 
 cultural venues.
� Promote and make progress against the 

council’s equality objectives.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Creation of the SK Community Hub, working with the community sector to meet the 

essential needs of over 2,000 vulnerable people as part of the Covid-19 response.
�  Development of LotterySK, directing over £120,000 of funding into 110 good causes in 

our local communities.
�  Helped attract over £2.5 million of additional funds for community and voluntary groups 

in South Kesteven via the SK Community Fund (representing a 750% return on the 
council’s investment). 

✓

✓
✓

Guildhall Arts Centre, Grantham Stamford Georgian Festival

45



12

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Protecting and improving the environment is vitally important both now and  
for generations to come. Our work includes:

� Tackling climate change by reducing the council’s carbon footprint.
� Ensuring that the district is a clean and pleasant place to live.
� Improving our parks and open spaces.

� Clean and Sustainable  
 Environment

Garden waste collection

Wyndham Park, GranthamElectric vehicle charging

46



13

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Reduce the council’s carbon footprint by at 
least 30% by 2030 and endeavour to become 
net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050.

� Deliver the Big Clean programme and maintain 
a higher street standard.

� Continue to innovate our approach to waste 
management to build on our strengths and 
maximise commercial and other opportunities.

� Maintain and enhance our green areas across 
the district, aiming to secure Green Flag status 
for Queen Elizabeth Park, Dysart Park and 
other relevant areas.

� Work proactively with EnvironmentSK to deliver 
high quality services and maximise commercial 
opportunities.

� Work with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
to reduce waste and further improve recycling.

� Recognise the changes in environmentally 
friendly modes of transport and seek to work 
with others to adapt required infrastructure.

� Explore opportunities to build on the success 
of the food waste collection trial scheme and 
ensure the service is sustainable.

� Build a new, modern depot that is fit for  
the future.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
� Declaration of climate emergency, with the establishment and publication of the council’s 

carbon footprint for the first time and creation of an action plan to improve.
� Big Clean team established to achieve and maintain a higher street standard.
� Wyndham Park project to refurbish the site completed during 2018 and Green Flag 

secured for the 8th successive year. Queen Elizabeth Park project to refurbish the site 
completed during 2019 and Management Plan developed to support application for 
Green Flag status during 2021.

✓
✓
✓

Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham Wyndham Park Visitor Centre

47



14

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Local residents in South Kesteven are entitled to have high expectations and, 
therefore, we will prioritise:

� Supporting the district in recovering from Covid-19.
� Managing our finances and assets effectively.
� Embedding an approach that seeks to continuously improve our service 

delivery, including good governance and staff and customer experience.

� High Performing Council

Customer Services Savoy multiplex cinema, Grantham

48



15

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Implement the Covid-19 Recovery Plan.
� Deliver a balanced, sustainable financial plan 

over the medium term.
� Undertake a constitution review and implement 

outcomes.
� Implement findings of the governance 

review across the council’s assets (including 
companies).

� Develop a people strategy (including a pay 
review) to support the retention and attraction 
of high quality staff.

� Develop and implement commercial and 
transformation strategies to deliver additional 
net revenue benefit.

� Undertake a fundamental review of the 
organisation to meet current and future needs.

� Support the implementation of an IT investment 
roadmap to align future solutions with the 
council’s ambitions.

� Embed an agile approach to working by 
building on cultural and technological changes.

� Deliver the ambitions of the Customer 
Experience Strategy.

� Maximise the value of the council’s own 
spending by using local suppliers  
wherever practical.

� Undertake an asset management review.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Opening of a new multiplex cinema in the centre of Grantham.
� Growth of the council’s high quality collection services, with an increase of 4% for garden  

waste and 51% for commercial waste since March 2019.
�  Development of a more agile approach, with over 400 staff enabled to work from home 

during Covid-19 crisis.

✓
✓

✓

Garden waste IT solutions supporting working from home

49



16

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Priority Area Example Action Example KPI

Growth and our 
economy

Develop a package of measures 
to support the recovery of the local 
economy to safeguard local jobs 
wherever possible.

Number of businesses supported by SKDC

Number of jobs safeguarded/created via 
SKDC support

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents

Undertake a housing review to 
provide the highest quality service 
possible to our tenants.

Percentage of responsive repairs completed 
within target time

Number of properties fitted with new 
kitchens and bathrooms

Healthy 
and strong 
communities

Make best use of different funding 
sources to support the voluntary and 
cultural sectors.

Amount of external funding brought into 
the district levered with support from SKDC 
funding streams

Clean and 
sustainable 
environment

Deliver the Big Clean programme 
and maintain a higher street 
standard.

Percentage of streets that meet Clean 
Streets Standard

High performing 
council

Develop and implement commercial 
and transformation strategies to 
deliver additional net revenue 
benefit.

Percentage increase in net income from 
commercial funding streams

Amount saved through efficiency 
improvements

Managing performance 
SKDC will be taking a ‘golden thread’ approach to managing performance and delivering priorities 
– meaning that every colleague should be able to understand the impact they are having on SKDC 
achieving our vision, delivering our priorities and realising the key actions. 

A key part of managing performance is to develop an agreed set of Key Performance Indicators, these 
will be agreed via scrutiny committees and reviewed on an annual basis. The table below sets out some 
examples of Actions and KPIs for each priority

Vision
“Be the best district in which to live, work and visit”

Service performance
� Service Plans, actions and KPIs approved by 

Director and Corporate Management Team.
� Monitored by Director and Corporate  

Management Team.

Individual performance
� Individual objectives agreed and linked to  

Corporate Plan.
� Monitored as part of performance appraisal  

by line manager.

Council performance
� Council Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) agreed  

by Scrutiny Committee.
� Three-monthly reports to Corporate Management Team, 

scrutiny committees and Cabinet.
� Yearly review as part of annual performance report  

to Cabinet.

50



17

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Covid-19 response

NEARLY 

18,000
VULNERABLE 

PEOPLE PERSONALLY 
CONTACTED TO 

OFFER SUPPORT

BINS COLLECTED A WEEK 
(BLACK, GREEN AND SILVER)

80,000

CUSTOMER 
ENQUIRIES HANDLED

 

54,048

ELIGIBLE FOR 
COUNCIL TAX 

HARDSHIP FUND 
PAYMENT

BUSINESSES HAVE 
BEEN AWARDED £1.2M 

OF DISCRETIONARY 
GRANTS

4,966

221

VIEWS ON OUR  
CORONAVIRUS  

WEB PAGE

NEARLY  

28,158

EMERGENCY REPAIRS 
HANDLED

2,643

IN GRANTS AWARDED TO 
2,284 BUSINESSES

£27.7 
million

HOMELESS PEOPLE 
PROVIDED WITH 

HOUSING

149
OUR SK COMMUNITY HUB 

HAS RECEIVED MORE THAN

CALLS

2,200 

VOLUNTEERS 
REGISTERED WITH 

THE SK COMMUNITY 
HUB

1,500 

STAFF WORKING TO  
MAINTAIN SERVICES

467

CALLS MADE TO VULNERABLE 
PEOPLE BY OUR 

BEFRIENDING TEAM 

1,500

GAS SAFETY CHECKS 
CARRIED OUT

1,837

OUT-OF-HOURS 
CALLS DEALT WITH

600

HOSTED MEDICAL TESTING 
STATIONS AT GRANTHAM 
MERES LEISURE CENTRE

FACILITATED HIGH 
STREET RE-OPENING 

IN ALL OF OUR TOWNS, 
INCLUDING PROVISION 
OF SOCIAL DISTANCING 

CHAMPIONS

STREET MARKETS 
CONTINUED THROUGHOUT 

AT THE HEART OF OUR 
COMMUNITIES

PROHIBITION NOTICES 
SERVED FOR BREACHES 
OF COVID-19 BUSINESS 

CLOSURE REGULATIONS

4

In March 2020 the world faced a global pandemic which has had a huge impact on South Kesteven.  
The council set out three key priorities: 

� To protect the health of staff, members and residents.
� To maintain critical services.
� To support local businesses.
 
Here are some of the ways in which SKDC delivered against those priorities:  

51



18

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Objective How will we achieve this?

Strengthen our knowledge 
and understanding of our 
communities.

Ensure that the council’s services are responsive to different needs 
and treat service users equitably, with dignity and respect.
Listen, involve and respond to our communities effectively.
Build a database of voluntary and community groups that serve 
our communities at grass roots level and work with them to ensure 
sustainability of provision and service.

Build a culture of equality and 
inclusion into all the services, 
functions and projects we 
deliver.

Incorporate the need to assess and address equality issues into the 
council’s project methodology and democratic processes to ensure 
consideration of the needs of our customers is at the heart of what 
we do, from the earliest stage of development through to 
decision-making and implementation.

Prove our ongoing commitment 
to equal opportunity by 
developing a diverse and 
empowered workforce and by 
reducing our gender pay gap.

Utilise workforce data to help identify areas for improvement 
in the diversity and skills of our workforce to seek equality of 
representation at all levels across the organisation.
Develop and deliver against an action plan to specifically address 
the council’s gender pay gap to form part of the work programme of 
the Employment Committee.
Demonstrate a positive culture with strong leadership and 
organisational commitment to improving equality outcomes.

Equalities
Our commitment to equalities is about long-term, continuous improvement. It is the responsibility of all 
officers and elected members to implement the principles of equality and diversity. We aim to ensure that 
these principles inform decision-making at every level within the council reflecting our ongoing commitment 
to the elimination of discrimination, the advancement of equality of opportunity for all, and to foster good 
relations between different communities. 

English to Speakers of Other  
Languages (ESOL) classCooking in the Community

52



19

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Links to key documents
The South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

South Kesteven Economic Development Strategy 2016-2021: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12187

South Kesteven Housing Strategy 2020-2024: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12186

South Kesteven Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/2017 – 2020/2021: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=20056

South Kesteven Budget 2020-2023:
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf

South Kesteven Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities June 2020: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26489

Core values at heart of SKDC 
The values of the council determine how we behave and deliver services to 
our residents and businesses and how we interact with each other.

They focus attention on seven areas:

� Accountability, which means ensuring that 
everyone at every level is responsible of what 
they do and takes ownership for their actions and 
decisions.

� Flexibility, which means working in different 
ways, at different times and in different places to 
meet the needs of our residents and businesses.

� Agility, which means working together to get the 
job done, using our skills to get the best outcome 
for our residents and businesses. 

� Equity, which means ensuring that we treat each 
other with respect, irrespective of rank, position 
or status. This echoes our commitment to provide 
consistently good services to both our internal 
and external customers.

� Networking, which means that as a council 
we recognise that ours is not the only voice or 
opinion. We embrace the views of others and 
use formal and informal networks to improve 
performance and ensure the solutions we deliver 
meet the needs of our customers.

� Always learning means sharing knowledge, 
skills and expertise to enable the council to 
go from strength to strength and learn from 
everything we do. 

� Talent means harnessing the incredible ability 
that is within the council and valuing the 
contribution that everyone can make.

53



Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

South Kesteven  
District Council
You can contact the council about benefits, rent or other issues 
 01476 406080  
Out of hours 01476 590044
 customerservices@southkesteven.gov.uk
	www.southkesteven.gov.uk

Alternative formats are available on request: 
audio, large print and Braille

03
15

5R
T_

9.
20

Stamford 

54



A CLEAN and SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT
Action Cabinet 

Member

Director What does success look like? Key Performance Indicator (s) Indicator type Target April 2021 Target April 2022 Target April 2023

1 Reduce the Council’s carbon 

footprint by at least 30% by 

2030 and endeavour to 

become net-zero carbon as 

soon as viable before 2050.

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

SKDC consistently taking steps 

to reduce it's carbon 

emissions, working towards 

achieving net-zero carbon as 

soon as viable.

SKDC carbon emissions. KPIs and monitoring 

improvement, 

recognising that the 

delivery may not be 

even/linear each year, in 

line with different 

project timelines.

The target is at least 

30% by 2030 and net-

zero carbon as soon 

viable. This equates 

to a reduction of 

approx 190 tonnes 

CO2 per year.  It is 

expected delivery will 

not necessarily be 

even/linear each year 

and may be  +/- 

10+%

The target is at least 

30% by 2030 and net-

zero carbon as soon 

viable. This equates 

to a reduction of 

approx 190 tonnes 

CO2 per year. It is 

expected delivery will 

not necessarily be 

even/linear each year 

and may be  +/- 10+%

The target is at least 

30% by 2030 and net-

zero carbon as soon 

viable. This equates 

to a reduction of 

approx 190 tonnes 

CO2 per year.  It is 

expected delivery will 

not necessarily be 

even/linear each year 

and may be  +/- 10+%

2 Deliver the ‘Big Clean’ 

programme and maintain 

higher street standards.

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Maintain the higher street 

standard.

Percentage of streets that 

meet clean streets standard.

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement.

90% 90% 90%

Number of garden waste bins. KPIs and monitoring 

improvement.  This will 

be impacted by seasonal 

weather.

2% growth in year 1% growth in year 1% growth in year

Commercial waste income. KPIs and monitoring 

improvement

Breakeven £30k £60k

Public satisfaction from 

visitors (Wyndham Park and 

Queen Elizabeth Park only at 

the moment)         

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement.

90+% for Wyndham 

Park and 80+% for 

QEP.

90+% for Wyndham 

Park and 80+% for 

QEP. 

90+% for Wyndham 

Park and 80+% for 

QEP. 

Green Flag status KPIs and monitoring 

improvement.

Maintain Green Flag 

Status - Wyndham 

Park.  

Maintain Green Flag 

status for Wyndham 

Park and secure 

Green Flag status for 

Queen Elizabeth Park. 

Maintain Green Flag 

status for Wyndham 

Park and Queen 

Elizabeth Park as well 

as secure Green Flag 

status for Dysart 

Park.

Compliments and complaints. KPIs and monitoring 

improvement.

Establish baseline Maintain or improve 

on the baseline.

Maintain or improve 

on the baseline.

3 Continue to innovate our 

approach to waste 

management to build on our 

strengths and maximise 

commercial and other 

opportunities.

4 Maintain and enhance our 

green areas across the District, 

aiming to secure Green Flag 

status for Queen Elizabeth 

Park, Dysart Park and other 

relevant areas.

Work proactively with 

Environment SK to deliver high 

quality services and maximise 

commercial opportunities.

5

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Continuing to develop our 

offer beyond statutory 

minimums.

High performing and 

commercially successful 

company.

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Appropriate quality of grounds maintenace of SKDC green areas.

55

A
ppendix B



Residual waste tonnes per 

1000 households.

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement. 

46 t/1000 

households

45 t/1000 housheolds 44 t/1000 households

Contribution to increasing the 

proportion of recycling, as set 

out in the  LWP strategy.

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement, 

responsive to national 

guidance & regulatory 

changes

40% 43% 45%

Reduced non-target 

recyclable materials in the 

recycling stream.

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement

31% 30% 28%

7 Recognise the changes in 

environmentally friendly 

modes of transport and seek 

to work with others to adapt 

required infrastructure.

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Understanding of demand for 

Electric Vehicle Charging 

Points and other 

infrastructure requirements.

Number of EVCPs in South 

Kesteven.

KPIs and monitoring 

improvement

Build in to climate 

change action plan.

Milestones As 

identified in climate 

change action plan.

Milestones As 

identified in climate 

change action plan.

8 Explore opportunities to build 

on the success of the food 

waste pilot and ensure the 

service is sustainable.

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Continuation of the food 

waste pilot area collection.

Food waste tonnes collected. KPIs and monitoring 

improvement

Undertake review & 

develop case to get 

the food waste 

collection trial area 

on a financially 

sustainable footing.

Deliver service in line 

with outcomes from 

review.

Deliver service in line 

with outcomes from 

review.

6 Work with the Lincolnshire 

Waste Partnership to reduce 

waste and further improve 

recycling. 

Director of 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

Cabinet 

Member for 

Commercial 

and 

Operations

LWP wide success in 

improving Lincolnshire's 

waste performance.

56



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Corporate Plan 2020-23 – Key 
Performance Indicators and 

Targets – Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Service Area: 
All 
 

Lead officer: 
Ken Lyon 

Date of Meeting  
 
12/02/20 Assessors: 

Ken Lyon 
Gary Smith 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

57

Appendix C



 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This sets out the framework for managing performance across a range of 
policies/actions within the Corporate Plan and in scope of Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Across all areas, the Corporate 
Plan gives an evidence-based 
approach to defining actions 
and grouping these into priority 
areas. 
 
The Key Performance 
Indicators and Targets provide 
an overview of the trajectory of 
the implementation of the 
action, which across the 
actions outlined within the 
report are likely to have a 
potentially positive impact on 
equality groups. 
 
For example actions and Key 
Performance indicators 
include: 

- Provision of high 
quality, accessible 

Disability 
 

 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Race 
 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Religion or 
Belief   

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Sex 
 
 
   

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

58



 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

public open space that 
will be available to all 
residents 

- Provision of 
infrastructure to make 
environmentally modes 
of transport more 
accessible. 

 
Alongside this the delivery of 
SKDCs equality objectives is 
within the scope of this report 
– which will ensure that these 
are frequently monitored by 
the overview and scrutiny 
committee. 
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Carers Potential positive (see 
comments) 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Potential positive (see 
comments) 

General 
comments 

This is an overarching document providing a performance 
framework for delivery.  Projects, policy and functions that 
emerge as outcomes of the Corporate Plan will be assessed on 
an individual basis to ensure equitability across all our services. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

A review of all available data was undertaken to define the Strengths, 
Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats facing the district.  This included 
data on diversity, employment, IMD (down to the super output area level), 
crime and education statistics.  This then formed the evidence base to 
develop priorities from. 
 

59



 

 

Consultation was undertaken through the CMT group over the period April 
to June 2020 and shared with Members for a series of workshops in July 
2020. 
 
Following support for the Corporate Plan 2020-23 by Cabinet and adoption 
by Council during September and October 2020 a range of key 
performance indicators and targets have been developed by Members and 
Officers that if achieved will contribute towards the vision and priorities of 
the Corporate Plan to be achieved. 
 
Consultation with overview and scrutiny committees about these indicators 
and targets is to ensure that the measures and targets proposed are the 
most appropriate ones. 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

An annual refresh will be undertaken, where any new data can be added.  
Various other strategies and reviews will be developed using this as the 
basis (such as a Governance Review), so further specific targets and 
measures can be developed from this. 
 
These will also be reviewed in the performance sessions of the quarterly 
overview and scrutiny meetings, giving the opportunity to highlight and 
track any new measures found to be missing. 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

60



 

 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):     
(Name and title)   Ken Lyon 
     Assistant Chief Executive 
  

Date completed:  12/01/2120  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development 
Officer 
 

Date signed off:     12/01/21  
 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

26 January 2021 

  

   

         
  

 

Staff commute patterns at South Kesteven District 
Council (as of February 2020) 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

Tel:  01476 406125 

Email: serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Approved by: Councillor Nicola Manterfield, Chair of Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

15 January 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To note the contents of the presentation reviewing a staff travel survey, taken on 
February 2020 

 

 

 

63

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

 

1 Background 

1.1 A brief travel survey for South Kesteven District Council staff was conducted in February 

2020, to understand how staff commute to the workplace. The survey received a good 

response rate of 201 responses, or 30% of all contracted staff. 

2 Financial Implications  

2.1 N/a – report for information. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: N/A 

3 Legal and Governance Implications  

3.1 N/a – report for information. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: N/A 

4 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

4.1 None. 

5 Risk and Mitigation 

5.1 None. 

6 Community Safety Implications  

6.1 None. 

7 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

7.1 There are currently no impacts on the Council’s declared climate emergency. If any 

recommendations are made which would potentially affect staff travel patterns, this could 

help to reduce the carbon impact from transport in the district. 

 

64



Staff commute patterns at SKDC

Assessing staff commute modes of travel at SKDC, and 

considering measures to increase uptake of cycling

Serena Brown

Sustainability and Climate Change officer

65

A
ppendix



Travel survey 2020

• Brief travel survey sent to all SKDC staff via email on 3rd February 

2020. Paper copies also provided to non-desk based staff

• Short survey seeking to understand working pattern, staff travel 

choice throughout a week and what might influence travel choice 

• 201 responses – 30% of all contracted staff. 

• The survey was designed as a quick snapshot of staff travel choice. It 

did not therefore include questions related to staff demographics, staff 

home postcode or business travel

66



Travel survey - context

• 5% of SKDC staff respondents report a disability (temporary or longer 

lasting) that affects their choice of travel to their workplace

• 77% of respondents are full time, 21% part time, the remainder working 

in shifts

• 65% of respondent commute times, door to door, are 30 minutes or less

67



Travel survey - results

Which of the following transport methods do you use to get to and from 

work? (select all that apply within a typical week)

Results shown as % of responses

Respondents selected all travel modes that applied 

throughout their journey

68



Travel survey - results

Which of the following factors affect transport choice? Respondents can 

select up to three options

Criteria % respondents

Convenience and comfort 42.3

Too far to walk/cycle 37.3

Lack of alternatives/ available options 34.8

Additional journeys before work e.g. school, supermarket, 
social activities

22.9

Health and fitness 22.4

Free parking is available to me 18.4

Cost 14.9

Personal safety 8

Need car for my job 8

Environmental/climate concerns 6.5

Avoiding congestion 5

Parking issues/lack of plentiful parking options 2.5

69



Travel survey - results

How far do you travel to work, door to door?

Results shown as % of responses

56.73% of respondents 
travel 5 miles or less to 

their place of work

43.27% of respondents 
travel more than 5 miles 

to their place of work

Commute journeys which are 5 miles or less are 

considered viable for active travel options including 

cycling

70



Distance and travel choice

Respondents selected all travel modes that applied throughout their 

journey

71



Distance and travel choice

• Most popular modes

– More than 5 miles = 68% drive alone in a typical week

– Less than 5 miles = 37% walk, 35% drive alone in a typical week

• More variety of travel choice in the less than 5 miles cohort – more 

likely to alter travel behaviours in a typical week

• Working from home was equally popular with the less than 5 miles and 

more than 5 miles cohorts

• 6.7% of the less than 5 miles cohort cycle as part of their journey, 

versus 1.7% of the more than 5 miles cohort 

72



How does modal split of SKDC staff compare with the regional average?

Regional data taken from 2011 national census

Mode of travel SKDC travel 
survey (%)

South 
Kesteven 

super output 
area (%)

Comparison

Drive – alone PLUS 
Car share - driver

50 57.6 ↓↓

On foot 25.3 24.3 ↑

Bike 5 4.2 ↔

Car share –
passenger

5 8 ↓↓

Train 3.3 0.8 ↑↑

Bus 2 3.4 ↓

Taxi 0 1 ↓

Motorcycle 0 0.7 ↓

73



Local/national context for cycling

• In 2017, transport accounted for 27% of the UK’s greenhouse gas emissions. [1]

• Over half of residents (58%) in UK major urban areas support more investment 

in cycling, compared to 42% for driving. [2]

• Motor vehicle mileage needs to be reduced by at least to 20% by 2030 to 

achieve national carbon targets. [3]

• National Travel Survey (2018) trends

– 68% of all trips in the UK are less than 5 miles

– Cycle trips per head of population has stabilised, but distance per trip has 

increased, potentially indicating a trend towards cycling as a sport rather 

than a travel mode

– On average 42% of people have access to a bicycle, and 34% cycle at least 

once a year

[1] Road transport and air emissions, Office for National Statistics, 2019
[2] Bikelife, Sustrans, 2020
[3] Reducing UK emissions, Committee on Climate Change, 2019

74



Supporting staff to travel by bike

• Office infrastructure suggestions to consider

– Include plans in office refurbishment to include showers and 

changing facilities for staff to use

– Ensure cycle parking provision is plentiful, well maintained, and 

where possible securely accessed

• Pool bikes as alternative to driving or walking

– Understand where short journeys are currently completed by 

driving or walking, and consider if these could be replaced by 

cycle trips

• Promotion of the cycle to work scheme

– Greater visibility of the staff cycle to work scheme, that provides 

an interest free loan for new bikes and cycling equipment

– Scheme was introduced in 2014 – to date 22 people have 

signed up to the scheme

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

MEMBERSHIP – 7 

 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COMMITTEE 

HISTORY DATE(S) 
CORPORATE/ 

PRIORITY 

26 January 2021, 10.30pm 

Performance 
Indicators 

To consider performance 
information against agreed 
indicators 
 
Report author: Ben Russell 

To consider which areas 
have poor or good 
performance, make 
recommendations for 
improvement or for 
continued success, and to 
feed back to Officers or 
make recommendations to 
Cabinet as necessary 

Requested by Scrutiny 
 

 

Quarterly figures 

Big Clean Update 
Report 

To receive an update following 
return of the Big Clean scheme 
post Covid-19 restrictions 
 
Report author: Ian Yates  

To assess the progress and 
level of success of the 
scheme and any impact 
from Covid-19 

 

 
23 May 2017 
18 July 2017 

Cycling in South 
Kesteven 

Recommendations and 
conclusions to presentation by 
Sustrans, and the staff travel 
survey from meeting held on 15 
December 2020 to improve cycling 
in South Kesteven. 
 
Discussion with presentation: 
Serena Brown 

To make recommendations 
and conclusions to 
presentation by Sustrans, to 
improve cycling in South 
Kesteven and look at 
conclusions 

This committee 

 

15 December 2020 

77

A
genda Item

 10



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COMMITTEE 

HISTORY DATE(S) 
CORPORATE/ 

PRIORITY 

20 April 2021, 10:30am 

TPO, Tree 
Replacement and 
Hedge Planting 

To receive a presentation by the 
Woodland Trust to consider new 
initiatives and recommendations for 
the protection of trees, hedges and 
woodland  
Report author: Gary Smith 

To consider joint initiatives 
with the Woodland Trust for 
future working to protect, 
preserve and replace 
protected trees, hedges and 
woodland 

Committee Member 
request 

 

 

 

 
 

78



 
 

REMIT 
The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of policy and to 
scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

 Air Quality 

 Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy) http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0 (2016 policy due for review 
January 2021) 

 Allotments 

 Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305) 

 Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063) 

 Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and Management 

 Dog breeding & control orders 

 Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

 Energy Efficiency 

 Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

 Flooding 

 Food Hygiene and Safety 

 Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0 (2020 policy due for review January 2022) 

 Health & Safety 

 Noise 

 Public Conveniences 

 Renewable Energy 

 Scrap Metal Dealers 

 Street Lighting 

 Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

 Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317) 

 Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy) (policy currently under review) 
 Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

79

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal


 
 

 
 

80


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 15 December 2020
	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	6 Performance Dashboards
	Appendix 1 Waste Dashboard
	Appendix 2 Carbon Emissions Tracker

	7 Performance Indicators
	Appendix A - Corporate Plan
	growth and economy
	Housing
	healthy community
	clean and sustainable
	high performing council

	Appendix B – Draft Key Performance Indicators and Targets for Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix C - Equality Impact-Corporate Plan KPIs and tagets approved final v1-0

	9 Cycling in South Kesteven with Staff Travel Survey
	Travel survey and cycling 2020

	10 Work Programme

	Button 148: 
	Button 177: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 178: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 179: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 180: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 181: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 182: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 183: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 94: 
	Button 95: 
	Button 96: 
	Button 97: 
	Button 98: 
	Button 99: 
	Button 100: 
	Button 104: 
	Button 103: 
	Button 102: 
	Button 101: 
	Button 147: 
	Button 170: 
	Button 171: 
	Button 172: 
	Button 173: 
	Button 174: 
	Button 175: 
	Button 176: 
	Button 156: 
	Button 157: 
	Button 158: 
	Button 159: 
	Button 160: 
	Button 161: 
	Button 162: 
	Button 149: 
	Button 150: 
	Button 151: 
	Button 152: 
	Button 153: 
	Button 154: 
	Button 155: 


